Minutes of the Workshop Meeting of February 13, 2023
Page 3

CITY OF BLAINE

ANOKA COUNTY, MINNESOTA

CITY COUNCIL WORKSHOP

Monday, February 13, 2023
6:00PM
Cloverleaf Farm Room A
10801 Town Square Drive

CALL TO ORDER
The meeting was called to order by Mayor Sanders at 6:00PM.
ROLL CALL

PRESENT: Mayor Tim Sanders, Councilmembers Terra Fleming, Chris Massoglia (attending remotely from 1305 Cape Coral Parkway E, Cape Coral, Florida 33904), Tom Newland, Jess Robertson, and Lori Saroya.
ABSENT:  None. 

Quorum Present.

 

ALSO PRESENT:  City Manager Michelle Wolfe; Community Development Director Eric Thorvig; City Planner Sheila Sellman; Safety Services Director/Police Chief Brian Podany; Finance Director Joe Huss; City Engineer Dan Schluender; Stormwater Coordinator Megan Hedstrom; Communications Manager Ben Hayle; Deputy Public Works Director Nick Fleischhacker; Public Works Stormwater Maintenance Supervisor Matt Withrow; and City Clerk Catherine Sorensen.
3.1
Minnesota School of Business (3680 Pheasant Ridge Drive) Proposed Change.

City Planner Sellman stated the subject site was developed in 2006 with a 46,800 square foot building on 4.68 acres for the Minnesota School of Business (MSB). A conditional use permit was issued for post-secondary education use, a zero-lot line, and shared driveway access. The building has been vacant since 2017. There have been very little inquiries for the property. The site is zoned Planned Business District (PBD), guided Planned Industrial (PI) and located within Pheasant Ridge Business Park. All uses in the PBD district require a conditional use permit. Pioneers Academy is interested in purchasing the MSB building and using it as a full-time private K-8 school with Saturday classes. This location allows for the expansion of their educational programs in serving over 400 students within the next three years. There will be no bussing, just drop off and pick up during the hours of 8:15-8:30AM and 3:30-3:45PM. A playground will be added as part of the improvements to the site. The PBD zoning district does not allow primary or secondary education uses. In order for this school to occupy this space, a code amendment or rezoning is necessary. Staff would encourage a rezoning rather than a code amendment if the Council is favorable of the proposed use.
Mayor Sanders asked what other parcels were available for redevelopment in this area. Ms. Sellman explained the surrounding area was zoned PBD and were for sale by the original owner of the business park.
Councilmember Newland stated he was not aware that MSB had closed. He preferred this site remaining part of the development and not becoming an elementary school in the middle of an office/industrial park. 

Councilmember Fleming expressed concern with the fact the proposed school would not have any bussing which meant there would be hundreds of cars driving through the office/industrial park twice a day. 

Councilmember Saroya asked why another educational facility was not allowed in this building. Ms. Sellman explained MSB was a post-secondary for profit school then commented on the differences between primary/post-secondary schooling requirements within City code. 
Councilmember Robertson stated this property was located within an industrial park and while she appreciated the fact another school was interested in locating in Blaine, she did not believe this location was the right fit for an elementary school. 
Councilmember Saroya explained she would support this request. She believed a school would benefit the community, especially given the fact the existing schools in Blaine were over capacity. She reiterated that this property had been used for education in the past.
Mayor Sanders commented MSB was a post-secondary for profit educational institutional. He explained if this property were rezoned to allow an elementary school the property would be taken off the property tax rolls. He stated he supported the City maintaining this business park and did not believe an elementary school was the right fit for this industrial park.

Councilmember Massoglia explained while he supported non-profits he agreed this was not the right location for this use. He supported this parcel being reserved for future redevelopment given the fact it was in a high visibility location within the office/industrial park. 

Councilmember Saroya asked if the Religious Lane Use and Institutionalized Persons Act would come into effect on this parcel. Ms. Sellman reported the request before the Council was if this property should be rezoned for an elementary educational use. Community Development Director Thorvig explained the request before the Council was for an elementary school and not a religious institution. 

Mr. Asada, Pioneers Academy, stated he has worked for the 501C3 tax exempt educational organization for the past 19 years. He stated his current building in Brooklyn Park was too small and he was seeking another location. He understood the MSB building has been vacant for several years and he was looking to move his institution to Blaine. He reported he teaches an Islamic education which includes the Arabic language and the Koran.
Councilmember Saroya asked if this was a religious organization. Mr. Asada stated his school teaches religion, but he operates an educational organization. 

Council consensus was to not support the proposed zoning change. 
3.2
Stormwater Inspection and Maintenance Programs.

Stormwater Coordinator Hedstrom stated the Minnesota Pollution Control Agency (MPCA) issues the City its Municipal Separate Storm Sewer (MS4) Permit and is the regulatory agency that sets criteria for inspection and maintenance activities. Best Practices for stormwater facilities include an annual inspection program and major maintenance on a five-year cycle. Staff described the current activities being conducted by the City to meet these requirements and the potential impacts these were having on Blaine residents. She noted the City has over 500 ponds to maintain then explained Area 1 would be worked on this spring. She requested the Council provide staff with feedback on how to improve communication plans.
Mayor Sanders thanked Ms. Hedstrom for all her great work on behalf of the City. He stated he was a huge proponent for creating a replanting or reseeding program for residents. 
Councilmember Robertson thanked Ms. Hedstrom for this information. She understood the objective of the City’s stormwater program and agreed the City needed to work on its communication plan with residents. While she appreciated how responsible the City was with its water management, she believed the City’s communication plan could not be a one size fits all plan and questioned if door knocking would be the most effective manner to communicate with residents. 

City Manager Wolfe agreed a one size fits all communication plan would not work. She commented on how the City had been divided into five stormwater management areas. She explained that as routine maintenance begins to occur in the City, residents will not be as impacted by the removal of buckthorn, willows, and trees.
Public Works Stormwater Maintenance Supervisor Matt Withrow discussed how some residents have opted to install fences along stormwater ponds and commented on how they would be impacted if trees were to fall on these fences. He anticipated the City would begin receiving insurance claims from these residents when trees begin falling.
Mayor Sanders asked what staff would allow to grow in the area surrounding a stormwater pond. Mr. Withrow explained milkweed, conifers, prairie grasses and black-eyed Susan’s would be allowed. 
Councilmember Robertson encouraged staff to provide the Council with the maintenance schedule and what messaging should be provided to residents. 

Councilmember Newland agreed door knocking should occur to ensure residents know what type of maintenance would be occurring around the City’s stormwater ponds. 
Councilmember Robertson indicated she would be willing to assist staff with door knocking.

Councilmember Saroya stated the communication efforts for the residents surrounding Pleasure Creek was well done. 

Councilmember Newland asked if the City had thought about posting temporary signage near stormwater ponds. Ms. Hedstrom explained in new developments trees were not allowed to be planted in the stormwater buffer zone. She agreed posting temporary signage would be helpful. 
Mayor Sanders suggested staff post a video on the City’s website showing the type of stormwater pond maintenance the City would be conducting and the type of equipment that would be used. 

Council consensus was to encourage staff to door knock prior to completing any stormwater pond inspections and maintenance. 
3.3
Northtown Discussion Part III.
Ms. Sellman stated the Blaine Economic Development Authority (EDA) owns six parcels in the Northtown area - a cluster of three lots at the corner of University Avenue and 90th Lane totaling 2.1 acres and a cluster of three lots off 89th Avenue NE, east of Auto Zone (formerly K-Mart), totaling 2.8 acres. The adopted Northtown Plan (“Plan”) shows some level of residential on the EDA properties. 
Mr. Thorvig explained for Area 1, the plan shows townhomes and green space. For Parcel 2, the plan shows an apartment building. Staff asked if the Council agreed with having some level of residential on these parcels. If so, the EDA has the opportunity to help begin redevelopment in this area. If there is consensus, staff can begin actively marketing the sites and start cleaning these up to prepare for development.
Councilmember Robertson asked what the current zoning was for these properties. Mr. Thorvig explained the properties were zoned high density residential and commercial. 
Councilmember Newland supported switching the high density residential to townhomes. He believed this would provide a better transition for the adjacent neighborhoods. 
Mayor Sanders anticipated Parcels 1 and 2 would developer faster than the other parcels.

Councilmember Saroya requested further information on why the EDA owned these parcels. Finance Director Huss reported the EDA purchased these parcels to more easily guide the redevelopment of these areas. 
Councilmember Saroya supported townhomes in this area or commercial. 

Councilmember Robertson recommended Lot 1 remain greenspace. She discussed how the adjacent residents would be impacted if this parcel were redeveloped. She supported Lot 2 being slab or two-story townhouses. Safety Services Director/Police Chief Podany discussed how greenspace in Blaine could possible attract unsheltered individuals and encampments.

Ms. Sellman asked if multi-family would be acceptable on the other parcels.

Councilmember Robertson did not support these parcels being multi-family. 
Mayor Sanders stated he would like this area to remain commercial. 
Councilmember Saroya questioned if a community center could be considered for these parcels. Mr. Thorvig reported this would require a community wide vote.

Councilmember Robertson commented the Council had a community center on the ballot twice and both times was voted down. She explained community centers don’t typically generate revenue but rather cost the City money. She indicated a partnership with private entity may be a way to move this use forward. 

Mayor Sanders stated the Council would have to consider what amenities should be included in the community center such as an indoor pool or play structure for kids. He reported the City had a great park system and gathering spaces. He discussed how neighboring communities have been burdened by their community centers. Mr. Thorvig stated in March a private entity would be coming before the Council with a community center type proposal.

Councilmember Fleming questioned what would happen if a commercial developer wanted to develop Parcel 2. Mr. Thorvig explained because the City owns the land, they have control over the future use. 
Councilmember Saroya inquired if single family homes could be built on Parcel 2. Mr. Thorvig stated this could occur, but he anticipated attached townhomes would be more desirable given the proximity to Highway 10. 

Ms. Sellman requested comment from the Council on how the Rainbow Village property should redevelop. 
Councilmember Robertson supported this area being a mixed-use development in order to support the adjacent commercial uses. She indicated this mixed use could include medical or other creative use. 

Mayor Sanders stated there had to be new people and new housing surrounding Northtown to support the renovations that would occur in this area. 

Councilmember Newland asked if townhomes were one of the recommendations for the Rainbow Village. Ms. Sellman indicated townhomes and office were recommended for this site. 
Councilmember Newland anticipated townhomes would be an easier sell for the Rainbow Village considering how close it was to a residential neighborhood. 

Mayor Sanders stated the City asked Roers to construct townhomes and they reported to the City that this would not be financially feasible. He supported the City keeping this property medium density in the hopes of a developer finding a way to make a project work on this site. He noted the current storefronts have been vacant for nine years.
Councilmember Saroya asked if the City had reached out to large employers in surrounding communities to see if they would be interested in constructing satellite offices in this area. Mr. Thorvig stated staff has not done this. He reported the market study shows there was a market for office in this area. He indicated staff would also like to explore medical office in this location, especially given the challenges with retail. 
Mr. Thorvig questioned if the entire center was gone, would the Council support multi-family on this parcel if it was oriented away from the single-family neighborhood. 

Councilmember Robertson explained she would be open to this if the property owner demoed the 12-acre site. 
Councilmember Fleming asked if it would make sense to construct condos over retail on this property. Mr. Thorvig indicated Councilmember Massoglia had proposed a mixed-use concept. He stated it was his understanding this type of project was difficult to finance and construct. He commented on the unique developments that were occurring in the Fargo area that were a hybrid of office, retail and residential. 

Councilmember Massoglia discussed how difficult it was to get financing for mixed use projects and stated he would be willing to support multi-family on this parcel. He indicated the City would have to consider how much assistance they would be willing to offer this redevelopment area. 

Councilmember Newland agreed this project area would require TIF financing. 

Councilmember Saroya stated she did not know if she would be able to support TIF funding for apartments on this property. She believed a large apartment complex would not fit with the surrounding neighborhood, given that it was in an older part of Blaine. 
Councilmember Newland understood this was an older part of Blaine but that the area was in need of redevelopment. He supported the use of TIF to assist with this redevelopment. He believed now was the time to make changes to the Northtown area. He hoped this Council would be willing to affect change to bring a positive change to the Northtown Mall and the surrounding properties. 
Mayor Sanders reported any TIF request would be around redevelopment and that he wanted to see this area with something drastically new. He indicated this was the most urban area in Blaine and he hoped a new concept would come forward for the Council to consider. 
Councilmember Fleming agreed this was the most urban area of Blaine. She hoped this area could begin to redevelop and thrive while maintaining an urban feel and its surrounding community. 
Councilmember Saroya stated she did not mean old Blaine in a negative way but rather this was the more historic portion of Blaine. She hoped this area could be touristy versus just having an apartment building.
Councilmember Robertson indicated she did not just want to put apartments on this property. She understood change was difficult and wanted to find what the change should be. She did not want to exclude multi-family apartments if the right project came forward. She commented on how complex TIF was but how beneficial it would be for this redevelopment area. 
Mayor Sanders stated the consensus of the Council was to support medium density housing and retail in the Rainbow Village area. 
Councilmember Robertson recommended the Council still consider multi-family housing in the event a unique concept were to come forward.

Mayor Sanders commented on how staff needed proper direction to understand what concepts should be brought before the Council in the future. 

Mr. Thorvig discussed how challenging this property was to redevelop and thanked the Council for their feedback. He explained the City had a good relationship with the property owner and would continue conversations.
Ms. Sellman commented on Area C noting this area was owned by Kraus Anderson. She reported the space was 68% occupied at this time. She questioned how the Council would like to see this area redevelop. 

Mayor Sanders understood this property owner was interested in redevelopment.
Councilmember Newland indicated residential would be a natural extension to this development, due to the adjacent senior living complex. He was of the opinion Kraus Anderson could buy into this.
Mayor Sanders asked if Kraus Anderson would support retail along with apartments and row homes. Ms. Sellman indicated Kraus Anderson would be open noting their space was currently 68% occupied. 
Councilmember Saroya questioned if this could be a mixed-use development with Trader Joe’s. Ms. Sellman stated she was uncertain what the future tenants would be. She asked if the Council supported row homes adjacent to the senior living project.

Councilmember Newland supported this recommendation.

Councilmember Saroya inquired if a traffic study had been completed for this area. Ms. Sellman reported a traffic study had not been completed but staff was working on this area. 
Mayor Sanders encouraged staff to also speak with Anoka County about this area. City Engineer Dan Schluender stated before a traffic study was completed staff would like the Council to define the future uses that would be allowed on these properties.  A traffic study would then be completed based on this information.

Mr. Thorvig reported utility and stormwater studies would also have to be done for this area. 

Councilmember Robertson stated she supported the proposed land use and explained she looked forward to learning more about how the roadway would be reworked. She indicated she wanted to see this area being more pedestrian friendly. 

Ms. Sellman asked if the Council wanted to create an amenity surrounding Spring Brook Creek. She noted there was property for sale in this area. She indicated the watershed district has expressed interest in a partnership with the City. 

Mr. Thorvig reviewed the five properties that the creek runs through. 

Mayor Sanders commented it would be tough to make this an amenity given the fact the City does not own all these properties. He questioned how much funding the City had available to purchase additional property. Mr. Thorvig stated staff would have to reevaluate this further. 

Councilmember Fleming supported making the area greenspace. She believed residents would enjoy having this amenity in the newly developed area. 
Councilmember Robertson asked how much the five properties would cost. Ms. Sellman estimated each parcel would cost $500,000. 
Councilmember Robertson discussed how important the water element would be to the overall redevelopment area. She supported the City looking to purchase the five parcels. Mr. Thorvig commented on where the City limits were for Blaine, noting the creek flows from Coon Rapids. 

Mayor Sanders asked if the Council had to take immediate action to purchase property on the creek or could action on this wait. Mr. Thorvig anticipated the City could purchase the one available property at this time and then could wait for the others to sell over time. 
Councilmember Massoglia agreed the City should pursue these parcels noting the creek would be a valuable amenity to the overall development. 

Ms. Sellman questioned how the staff should be completing outreach. She explained at the recent retreat staff discussed open houses that would be held and noted staff has reached over 65,000 with social media posts. She commented further on the number of people that were receiving emails, texts, and newsletters regarding this project. 

Mr. Thorvig reported the City has not been targeting neighborhoods with this information but noted this could be done in the future. 

Councilmember Saroya supported the City targeting the surrounding neighborhoods, Ward 1 specifically, to ensure they have a voice throughout this redevelopment process. She noted she was receiving many emails and calls regarding this project. 
Councilmember Newland commented on how well the community engagement was conducted by the project in Colorado. He wanted to see the residents in Blaine involved in order to properly move this project forward. 
Mayor Sanders agreed community feedback would be important throughout the entire redevelopment process, however, the residents would also have to understand that not all recommendations would be followed. He noted most of the people that live surrounding Northtown would not be living in this area in 30 years. He indicated the Council would have to consider what was best for the City when constructively moving this project forward. 

Councilmember Saroya explained there was a distrust of the City among the residents who live in this area of Blaine. She supported the City have these residents a part of the conversations regarding this redevelopment project. She believed there was a disconnect and she wanted to see the City reaching out and making an effort. 

Councilmember Robertson indicated she would like to hear from Damon Farber to learn how they conducted public outreach for the Southdale and Ridgedale projects. She stated she would also like to know how much this would cost the City. She reiterated that the feedback received would have to be gauged through a 30-year lens. 
Councilmember Newland commented on the leadership and direction that would be needed to move this project forward and onto completion over the next 30 years. 

Mayor Sanders stated it was disheartening to learn that the residents in this area believed they would be driven from their homes. He indicated this was not the City’s intention or goal, rather the City was trying to save this area. 

Councilmember Fleming understood the Council and staff was working to make this area better for the City. She noted Blaine was larger than just Ward 1 and hoped that all voices would be heard.

Councilmember Robertson commented on the wins the Council had already agreed upon based on the feedback from the neighbors. She stated the Council cares and hoped that this could be conveyed to the neighborhoods. 

Councilmember Massoglia indicated he would like to hear more from the mall owners. Ms. Sellman explained she reaches out to the mall owner on a weekly basis. 
Councilmember Saroya requested an organized forum be held with residents to gather feedback and comments regarding Northtown. Mr. Thorvig indicated a third-party facilitator may be the best option for this type of forum. Ms. Sellman reported staff was always available to meet with residents to discuss this project and any concerns residents may have regarding this project.
Ms. Sellman reviewed the next steps for this project, which included having a discussion on the core of the mall. She noted staff would reach out to Damon Farber as well. 
OTHER BUSINESS
City Clerk Sorensen inquired about interviews for Planning Commission vacancies.  The Council agreed to meet on Monday, February 27. 

Ms. Wolfe reported the NRCB was lacking a chair at this time then indicated the Board would have an interim chair Gene Rafferty for the next two months and a new chair would be appointed in April. 
Ms. Wolfe provided the Council with an update from the legislature. She explained both the federal and local lobbyists were working diligently on behalf of the City of Blaine. 

Councilmember Robertson commented on a session she attended regarding FMLA and discussed how changes to FMLA would adversely impact local small businesses. 

Ms. Wolfe noted she would be out of town for the rest of the week and explained Mr. Huss would be Acting City Manager in her absence.  

The Workshop was adjourned at 8:46PM.








Tim Sanders, Mayor

ATTEST:

Catherine Sorensen, CMC, City Clerk
Submitted by Minute Maker Secretarial 

